05-08651

÷.	1					
•	2	IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA				
	3	* * * *				
	4	MICHAEL RIPPO,	S.C. CASE NO. 44094			
	5	Appellant,				
	6	vs.				
	7	THE STATE OF NEVADA,				
	8					
	9	Respondent.				
	10					
	11		TION FOR WRIT OF HABEAS CORPUS			
CHI 520 S	12		CONVICTION) CIAL DISTRICT COURT			
HRISTOPHER 20 South Fourth Street Las Vegas, Nevad	13		ALD M. MOSLEY, PRESIDING			
ISTOPHER R. O uth Fourth Street, Secon Las Vegas, Nevada 8910	14		· · · · ·			
IER Street Nevad	15	APPELLANT	'S OPENING BRIEF			
R. , Seco la 8910	16	~~~~~~~~	~~~~~			
	17					
AM	18	ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT CHRISTOPHER R. ORAM, ESQ.	<u>ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT</u> DAVID ROGER, ESQ.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

MICHAEL DAMON RIPPO (hereinafter referred to as RIPPO) stands convicted of a number of felonies, including two counts of First Degree Murder (A.A. Vol. II, pp. 415). He was sentenced to death by lethal injection by the trial jury (A.A. Vol. II, pp. 415). RIPPO was represented by Steve Wolfson and Phil Dunleavy at trial.

RIPPO was indicted by the Clark County Grand Jury on June 5, 1992, on charges of Murder, Robbery, Possession of Stolen Vehicle, Possession of Credit Cards Without the Cardholder's Consent and Unauthorized Signing of Credit Card Transaction Document (A.A. Vol. II, pp. 378). RIPPO was arraigned on July 20, 1992, before the Honorable Gerard Bongiovanni and waived his right to a trial within sixty days (A.A. Vol. II, pp. 379). Oral requests for discovery and reciprocal discovery were granted by the Court (A.A. Vol. II, pp. 379). RIPPO'S formal Motion for Discovery was granted by the Court on November 4, 1992 (A.A. Vol. II, pp. 381).

Prior to the District Court arraignment, the State filed a Notice of Intent to Seek the Death Penalty alleging the existence of four aggravating circumstances, to wit: (1) the murders were committed by a person under a sentence of imprisonment; (2) the murders were committed by a person who had been previously convicted of a felony involving violence, (3) the murders were committed during the perpetration of a robbery, and (4) the murders involved torture or mutilation of the victims.

The trial date was continued several times, the first being at the request of defense counsel on February 5, 1993, due to a scheduling conflict and the case was reset for trial for September 13, 1993 (A.A. Vol. II, pp. 382-383). On September 10, 1993, the date set for the hearing of a number of pretrial motions the defense moved to continue the trial date based on having just received from prosecutor John Lukens, on September 7th, notice of the State's

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

intent to use at least two new expert witnesses and a number of jail house snitches and discovery had not yet been provided on any of the new witnesses (A.A. Vol. II, pp. 384). The Court granted the defense request to continue the trial date and same was reset to February 14, 1994 (A.A. Vol. II, pp. 385).

A status hearing on the trial date was held on January 31, 1994, at which time the defense indicated that subpoenas had been served on the two prosecutors on the case, John Lukens and Teresa Lowry, as they had participated in the service of a search warrant and had discovered evidence thereby making themselves witnesses in the case (A.A. Vol. II, pp. 387). A Motion to Disqualify the District Attorney's office was thereupon filed along with a Motion to Continue the Trial (A.A. Vol. II, pp. 388). At the hearing of the Motions the Court continued the trial date to March 28, 1994, in order to allow time for an evidentiary hearing on the disqualification request and because the court's calendar would not accommodate the trial date (A.A. Vol. II, pp. 389).

The evidentiary hearing on the Motion to Disqualify the District Attorney's office was heard on March 7, 1994, and two days later the Court granted the motion and removed Lukens and Lowry from the case, but declined to disqualify the entire office and ordered that other district attorneys be assigned to the case (A.A. Vol. II, pp. 390-392). Prosecutors Mel Harmon and Dan Seaton were assigned the case. At a status hearing on March 18th defense counsel indicated that they had just been provided with a substantial amount of discovery that had been previously withheld and that the State had filed a motion to Amend the Indictment and that therefore the defense was again put in the position of having to ask the Court to continue the trial date. The Court granted the motion and reset the trial date for October 24, 1994 (A.A. Vol. II, pp. 392-393).

The October trial date was also vacated and reset based on representations made by the District Attorney at the calendar call on October 21, 1994 (A.A. Vol. II, pp. 397). The date was reset for August and September, 1995, however due to conflicting trial schedules, the date was once again reset for January 29, 1996 (A.A. Vol. II, pp. 398). On January 3, 1996 the State was allowed to file an Amended Indictment over the objection of RIPPO (A.A. Vol. II, pp. 398).

Jury selection commenced on January 30, 1996, and the evidentiary portion of the trial began on February 2, 1996 (A.A. Vol. II, pp. 400-403). An interruption of the trial occurred between February 7th and February 26th based on the failure of the State to provide discovery concerning a confession and inculpatory statements claimed to have been made by RIPPO to one of the State's witnesses (A.A. Vol. II, pp. 405-412). The trial thereafter proceeded without further interruption and final arguments were made to the jury on March 5, 1996.

Guilty verdicts were returned on two counts of first degree murder, and one count each of robbery and unauthorized use of a credit card (A.A. Vol. II, pp. 412). The penalty hearing commenced on March 12, 1996 and concluded on March 14, 1996 with verdicts of death on both of the murder counts. On the remaining felony counts RIPPO was sentenced to a total of twenty-five (25) years consecutive to the murder counts (A.A. Vol. II, pp. 417).

RIPPO pursued a direct appeal to this Court with the conviction and sentence being affirmed on October 1, 1997. <u>Rippo v. State</u>, 113 Nev. 1239, 946 P.2d 1017 (1997). RIPPO filed for Rehearing and on February 9, 1998, an Order was entered Denying Rehearing. A Petition for Writ of Certiorari was filed with the United States Supreme Court and Certiorari was denied on October 5, 1998. This Court issued it's Remittitur on November 3, 1998. RIPPO timely filed the instant Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus on December 4, 1998.

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

On August 8, 2002, Mr. David Schieck filed a Supplemental Points and Authorities in Support of Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus (A.A. Vol. I, pp. 001-104). On March 12, 2004, the undersigned was permitted to file a second Supplement Petition in Support of the Writ of Habeas Corpus (A.A. Vol. I, pp. 168-216).

On August 20, 2004, an evidentiary hearing was held wherein, trial attorneys, Mr. Steve Wolfson and Mr. Phillip Dunleavy testified (A.A. Vol. II, pp. 278-306). Thereafter, on September 10, 2004, the continuation of the evidentiary hearing was held wherein, Mr. David Schieck, appellate counsel testified (A.A. Vol. II, pp. 307-368). On December 1, 2004, the district court entered the written Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law denying the Writ of Habeas Corpus (A.A. Vol. II, pp. 374-377). A timely notice of appeal was filed on October 12, 2004 (A.A. Vol. II, pp. 369-370). The instant appeal follows.

It is important to note, that in Mr. David Schieck's supplement filed on August 8, 2002, he included all of the issues that had previously been raised in this Court on direct appeal. Whereas, the undersigned supplement did not include those issues. For purposes of this appeal, Mr. Rippo will only include the issues from the post-conviction relief and not issues that were previously raised on direct appeal. However, Mr. Rippo will include his first issue in this appeal an issue that was considered on direct appeal but based on new case law he would respectfully request that this Court consider the issue.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

¹On February 20, 1992, the apartment manager of the Katie Arms Apartment Complex

This Statement of Facts comes verbatim from this Court's statement of facts from Mr. Rippo's direct appeal opinion filed on October 1, 1997. The undersigned has previously raised a lengthy statement of facts that will not be included in the instant appeal (as this brief has a 30 page limit and the statement of facts is very lengthy, the undersigned cites this Court's statement of facts) but the full statement of facts is

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

in Las Vegas discovered the bodies of Denise Lizzi and Lauri Jacobson in Jacobson's

apartment. Officers from the Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Department ("LVMPD") arrived at the scene and recovered a clothing iron and a hair dryer, from which the electrical cords had been removed, a black leather strip, a telephone cord, and two pieces of black shoelace. They observed glass fragments scattered on the living room and kitchen floor areas.

In April 1992, the LVMPD arrested Diana Hunt and charged her with the killing and robbery of Lizzi and Jacobson. As part of her plea agreement, Hunt agreed to testify at the trial of Michael Rippo. Hunt testified to the following:

At the time of the murders, Hunt was Rippo's girlfriend. On February 18, 1992, she and Rippo went to the Katie Arms Apartment Complex to meet Jacobson, who was home alone. Rippo and Jacobson injected themselves with morphine for recreational purposes. Shortly thereafter, Lizzi arrived, and she and Jacobson went outside for approximately twenty minutes. While Jacobson and Lizzi were outside, Rippo closed the apartment curtain and the window and asked Hunt to give him a stun gun she had in her purse. Rippo then made a phone call.

When Jacobson and Lizzi returned to the apartment, they went into the bathroom. Rippo brought Hunt a bottle of beer and told her that when Jacobson answered the phone, Hunt should hit Jacobson with the bottle so that Rippo could rob Lizzi. A few minutes later the phone rang, and Jacobson came out of the bathroom to answer it. Hunt hit Jacobson on the back of her head withe the bottle causing Jacobson to fall to the floor. Rippo and Lizzi were yelling in the bathroom, and Hunt could hear the stun gun being fired. Hunt witnesses

26 27

included in the Appellant's Appendix in the undersigned's Supplemental Brief in Support of Habeas Corpus for this Court's review in the event that they need an extensive rendition of the statement of facts.

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

Rippo wrestle Lizzi across the hall into a big closet. Hunt ran to the closet and observed Rippo sitting on top of Lizzi and stunning her with the stun gun. Hunt then went to the living room and helped Jacobson sit up. Rippo came out of the closet holding a knife which he had used to cut the cords from several appliances, told Jacobson to lie down, tied her hands and feet, and put a bandanna in her mouth.

Hunt next saw Rippo in the closet with Lizzie. Rippo had tied Lizzi's hands and feet. At this point, a friend of Jacobson's approached the apartment, knocked on the door, and called out for Jacobson. Rippo put a gag in Lizzi's mouth. Jacobson was sill gagged and apparently unable to answer. After the friend left, Rippo began stunning Jacobson with the stun gun. He placed a cord or belt-type object through the ties on Jacobson's feet and writs, and dragged her across the floor to the closet. As Rippo dragged her, Jacobson appeared to be choking. Hunt began to vomit and next remembered hearing an odd noise coming from the closet. She observed Rippo with his knee in the small of Lizzi's back, pulling on an object he had placed around her neck.

When Hunt accused Rippo of choking the women, Rippo told her that he had only temporarily cut off their air supply, and that Hunt and Rippo had to leave before the two women woke up. Rippo then wiped down the apartment with a rag before leaving. While cleaning up, Rippo went into the closet and removed Lizzi's boots and pants. He explained to Hunt that he needed to remove Lizzi's pants because he had bled on them.

Later that evening, Rippo called Hunt and told her to meet him at a friend's shop. When Hunt arrived, Rippo was there with Thomas Simms, the owner of the shop, and another unidentified man. Rippo told Hunt that he had stolen a car for her and that she needed to obtain some paperwork on it. Hun believed the car, a maroon Nissan, had belonged to Lizzi. 28

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

The next day, on February 19, 1992, Hunt and Rippo purchased a pair of sunglasses using a gold Visa card. Rippo told Hunt that he had purchased an air compressor and tools on the Sears credit cart that morning. Later that day, Hunt, who was scared of Rippo and wanted to "get away from him" went through Rippo's wallet in search of money. Hunt was unable to find any money, but she took a gold Visa card belonging to Denny Mason, Lizzi's boyfriend, and Rippo's wallet. Hunt did not know who Mason was. Around February 29, 1992, Rippo confronted Hunt. Hunt suggested to Rippo that they turn themselves into the LVMPD, but Rippo refused, telling Hunt that he had returned to Jacobson's apartment, cut the women's throats, and jumped up and down on them.

The medial examiner, Dr. Giles Sheldon Green, who performed autopsies on Lizzi and Jacobson, also testified at Rippo's trial. Dr. Green testified that Lizzi had been found with a sock in her mouth, secured by a gag that encircled her head. The sock had been pushed back so far that part of it was underneath Lizzi's tongue, blocking her airway. Pieces of cloth were found tied around each of her writs. Dr. Green testified that Lizzi's numerous injuries were consistent with manual and ligature strangulation.

- Dr. Green testified that Jacobson died from asphyxiation due to manual strangulation due to manual strangulation. Dr. Green found no traces of drugs in Jacobson's system. Neither of the women' bodies revealed stun gun marks.
- Thomas Sims also testified at trial the Rippo arrived at his shop on February 18, 1992,
 with a burgundy Nissan. When Simms asked about the ownership of the car, Rippo
 responded that someone had died for it. Rippo have Simms several music cassette tapes,
 many bearing the initials D.L., and an empty suitcase with Lauri Jacobson's name tag. On
 February 21, 1992, Simms heard a news report that two women had been killed and that one
 of them was named Denise Lizzi. On February 26, 1992, Simms met Rippo in a parking lot to

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

return a bottle of morphine that Rippo had left in Simms' refrigerator. When Simms inquired about the murders, Rippo admitted that he had "choked those two bitches to death" and then he had killed the first woman accidentally so he had to kill the other one.

On September 15, 1993, Deputy District Attorneys John Lukens and Teresa Lowry accompanied two police officers in the execution of a search warrant on the home of Alice Starr. Starr had testified on the State's behalf before the grand jury but subsequently was identified by Rippo as an alibi witness. Officer Roy Chandler, on of the two officers present at the scene, testified at an evidentiary hearing that Starr's sister responded to their knock on the door, admitted the officers and the prosecutors, and told them that she and her two children were the only ones in the house. Starr, however, suddenly came out of the kitchen area. Surprised at Starr's presence, the officers checked the residence for other individuals. The officers removed their guns from their holsters. Starr corroborated the officers' version of the events, testifying that the officers did not draw their guns until she appeared from the kitchen.

During the search, on e of the officers found drugs and placed Starr under arrest.

Lukens testified that he told Starr:

I am concerned. When I was last here, you told me that your relationship with Mr. Rippo was as an acquaintance. . . I don't think you were honest with me. And if there was anything else that you weren't honest in telling me the truth about, I'd like to give you a chance to tell me.

24 Starr testified that Lukens did not threaten her, but she stated, "[I]f [your] going to dangle on

25 || [Rippo's] star, [you're] going to go down like he is." Upon motion by the defense, the district

26 court disqualified Lukens and Lowry as a result of their participation in the search and

²⁷ requested the district attorney's office to transfer the case to different prosecutors.

The jury found Rippo guilty of two counts of first-degree murder, and one count each 2 of robbery and unauthorized use of a credit card. After the penalty hearing, the jury sentenced 3 4 Rippo to death, finding six aggravating factors:(1) the murders were committed by a person 5 under sentence of imprisonment; (2) the murders were committed by a person who was 6 previously convicted of a felony involving the use or threat of violence to another person; (3) 7 the murders were committed while the person was engaged in the commission of or an 8 attempt to commit robbery; (4) the murders involved torture; (5) the murders were committed 9 10 while the person was engaged in the commission of or an attempted to commit burglary; and 11 (60 the murders were committed while the person was engaged in the commission of or an 12 attempt to commit kidnapping. 13

ARGUMENT

RIPPO'S SENTENCE IS INVALID UNDER THE STATE AND FEDERAL CONSTITUTIONAL GUARANTEE OF DUE PROCESS, EQUAL PROTECTION OF THE LAWS, EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL AND RELIABLE SENTENCE BECAUSE THE JURY WAS ALLOWED TO **USE OVERLAPPING AGGRAVATING CIRCUMSTANCES IN IMPOSING** THE DEATH PENALTY. UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION AMENDMENTS 5, 6, 8, AND 14; NEVADA CONSTITUTION ARTICLE I, SECTIONS 3, 6 AND 8; ARTICLE IV, SECTION 21.

This issue was raised on direct appeal. On direct appeal, this Court concluded that Mr. Rippo could have been prosecuted separately for each of the underlying felonies and therefore each crime was properly considered as an aggravating circumstance. However, based upon a new decision from this Court, Mr. Rippo would respectfully request that this Court revisit this issue. 25

RIPPO herein asserts that overlapping and multiple use of the same facts as separate aggravating circumstances resulted in the arbitrary and capricious imposition of the death penalty. Trial counsel failed to file any pretrial motion challenging the aggravating

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

26

27

28

I.

1

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

circumstances as being overlapping, failed to object at the penalty hearing to the use of the aggravators, and failed to offer any jury instruction on the matter.

The original notice of intent to seek the death penalty filed by the State on June 30, 1992 alleged the presence of four aggravating circumstances, i.e., under sentence of imprisonment, previously convicted of a felony involving violence, committed during the commission a robbery, and torture or mutilation of the victim. The State filed an Amended Notice of Intent to Seek the death penalty on March 23, 1994 wherein the State added the aggravators of: committed during the commission of a burglary; and during the commission of a kidnapping. The Amended Notice was filed after the original two prosecutors were removed from the case. The jury at the conclusion of the penalty hearing found the presence of all six (6) aggravating circumstances (A.A. Vol. II, pp. 414-415).

In essence the State was allowed to double count the same conduct in accumulating three of the aggravating circumstances. The robbery, burglary and kidnapping aggravating circumstances are all based upon the same set of operative facts and unfairly accumulated to compel the jury toward the death penalty. Additionally the aggravators for under sentence of imprisonment and prior conviction of a violent felony both arose from the same 1982 sexual assault conviction. The use of the same set of operative facts to multiple aggravating circumstances in a State that uses a weighing process, such as Nevada does, violates principles of Double Jeopardy and deprived RIPPO of Due Process of Law. United States Constitution, Amendments V1 VII, XIV; Nevada Constitution, Article I, Section 8.

In December of 2004, this Court decided <u>McConnell v. State</u>, 120 Ad Op. 105, 102 P.3d 606 (December 29, 2004), in that case, this Court precluded the use of predicate felonies as aggravator in a felony murder case, as in Mr. Rippo's case.

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

It appears that the rational behind the <u>McConnell</u> decision comes from Eighth Amendment, which prohibits the infliction of cruel and unusual punishment. In 1972 the United States Supreme Court held that capital sentencing schemes which do not adequately guide sentencers discretion and thus permit the arbitrary and capricious imposition of the death penalty violates the Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments. As a result, the United States Supreme Court has held that to be constitutional a capital sentencing scheme "must generally narrow the class of persons eligible for the death penalty and must reasonably justify the imposition of a more severe sentence on the defendant's compared to other found guilty of murder." <u>Vant v. Stephens</u>, 462 U.S. 862, 877, 103 S.Ct. 2733, 77 L.Ed 2d 235 (1983).

In <u>McConnell</u>, this Court concluded that Nevada's only constitutional ban against the infliction of cruel or unusual punishment, and the depravation of life without due process of law requires the same narrowing the process. Nevada Constitution Article 1 § 68 (5).

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