UNIGIMAL

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On June 5, 1992, Michael Damon Rippo, hereinafter "Defendant", was indicted by a Clark County Grand Jury for the crimes of Murder (Felony - NRS 200.010, 200.030), Robbery (Felony - NRS 200.380), Possession Stolen Vehicle (Felony - NRS 205.273), Possession of Credit Cards Without Cardholder's Consent (Felony - NRS 205.690), and Unauthorized Signing of Credit Card Transaction Document (Felony - NRS 205.750), committed at and within Clark County, on or between February 18, 1992, and February 20, 1992.

Notice of Intent to Seek the Death Penalty was filed on June 30, 1992, listing the following aggravating circumstances: 1) the murders were committed by a person under sentence of imprisonment; 2) the murders were committed by a person who was previously convicted of a felony involving the use or threat of violence to another person; 3) the murders were committed while the person was engaged in the commission of or an attempt to commit robbery; and 4) the murders involved torture, or the mutilation of the victim.

On July 6, 1992, the Honorable Gerard Bongiovanni continued the arraignment to July 20, 1992 on the grounds that Defendant had not yet received a copy of the Grand Jury transcript. (Appellant's Appendix, hereinafter AA, Volume II, page 000379). On July 20, 1992, Defendant again appeared before Judge Bongiovanni and entered pleas of not guilty to all of the charges against him. Defendant waived his right to a speedy trial and upon agreement of both the State and Defendant, trial was scheduled for February 8, 1993. The Court also ordered that discovery would be provided by the District Attorney's Office. (AA, Volume II, pages 000379-000380).

At a motion hearing on January 31, 1994, counsel for Defendant informed the Court that he had subpoenaed both of the Deputy District Attorneys prosecuting this case, John Lukens and Teresa Lowry. Mr. Dunleavy stated that the Deputy District Attorneys had conducted a search pursuant to a search warrant and that in the process of seizing items in the search, the attorneys became witnesses for the defense. Counsel

9 10

11

12

13

14

15 16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23 24

25

26

27 28 for Defendant further argued that the entire District Attorney's Office should be disqualified from the prosecution of this case. The Court ordered that the motion be submitted in writing and supported by an affidavit. (AA, Volume II, pages 000387-000388).

On March 7, 1994, an evidentiary hearing was held regarding Defendant's Motion to Disqualify the District Attorney's Office. Deputy District Attorney Chris Owens represented the State. Two days later the motion to remove Chief Deputy District Attorney Lukens and Deputy District Attorney Lowry from the case was granted. The Court, however, refused to disqualify the entire District Attorney's Office and ordered the appointment of new District Attorneys. The Court was informed that Chief Deputy District Attorneys Dan Seaton and Mel Harmon were going to replace Lukens and Lowry on March 11, 1994. (AA, Volume II, pages 000390-000393).

A status hearing was held on March 18, 1994 and was continued on the basis of the State's request to amend the indictment and new discovery provided to the defense. (AA, Volume II, pages 000393-000394). The District Court denied the State's request to amend the indictment. (AA, Volume II, page 000397). The State filed for a Writ of Mandamus, which was granted on April 27, 1995. An amended indictment was filed on January 3, 1996, including felony murder and aiding and abetting. (AA, Volume II, page 000398).

Jury selection began on January 30, 1996 (AA, Volume II, pages 000400-000402), and the trial commenced on February 2, 1996. (AA, Volume II, page 000403). A continuance was granted for Defendant to interview witnesses from February 8, 1996, to February 20, 1996. (AA, Volume II, page 000406). The trial commenced again on February 26, 1996. (AA, Volume II, page 000407).

Final arguments were made on March 5, 1996 (AA, Volume II, pages 000411-000412), and guilty verdicts were returned on March 6, 1992, of two counts of first degree murder, and one count each of robbery and unauthorized use of a credit card.

(AA, Volume II, page 000412). The penalty hearing was held from March 12, 1996 to March 14, 1996. (AA, Volume II, pages 000413-000415). The jury found the presence of all six aggravating factors and returned with a verdict of death. (AA, Volume II, page 000415).

On May 17, 1996, Defendant was sentenced to: Count I - Death; Count II - Death; Count III - Fifteen (15) years for Robbery to run consecutive to Counts I and II; and Count IV- Ten (10) years for Unauthorized Signing of Credit Card Transaction Document, to run consecutive to Counts I, II, and III; and pay restitution in the amount of \$7,490.00 and an Administrative Assessment Fee. (AA, Volume II, page 000417).

A direct appeal to the Nevada Supreme Court was filed challenging the conviction and sentence and on October 1, 1997 an opinion was issued affirming the judgment of conviction and the sentence of death. *Rippo v. State*, 113 Nev. 1239, 946 P.2d 1017 (1997). A Petition for Rehearing was filed October 20, 1997, and an Order Denying Rehearing was filed February 9, 1998. A Petition for Writ of Certiorari was filed with the United States Supreme Court and was denied on October 5, 1998.

Defendant filed a Petition of Writ of Habeas Corpus (Post Conviction) on December 4, 1998. On August 8, 2002, Defendant filed a Supplemental Points and Authorities in Support of Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus. (AA, Volume I, pages 000001-000104). On October 14, 2002, the State filed an opposition. (AA, Volume I, pages 000105-000153). On February 10, 2004, Defendant filed a Supplemental Brief in Support of Defendant's Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus (Post-Conviction). (AA, Volume II, pages 000168-000208). On March 12, 2004, Defendant filed an ERRATA to Supplemental Brief in Support of Defendant's Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus (Post-Conviction). (AA, Volume I, pages 000209-000216). On April 6, 2004, the State filed a response. (AA, Volume II, page 000217-000273).

On August 20, 2004, an evidentiary hearing was held. Defendant's trial attorneys, Steve Wolfson and Phillip Dunleavy testified. At that hearing, the district

court ruled that Defendant had not received ineffective assistance of trial counsel. (AA, Volume II, pages 000278-000306).

On September 10, 2004, the evidentiary hearing continued. On that day, Defendant's appellate counsel, David Schieck testified. The district court ruled that Defendant had not received ineffective assistance of appellate counsel. (AA, Volume II, pages 000307-000368). On October 12, 2004, Defendant filed an appeal. (AA, Volume II, pages 000369-000371). An order denying the Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus (Post-Conviction) was filed on December 1, 2004. (AA, Volume II, pages 000374-000377).

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

For purposes of this Answering Brief, the State adopts the Statement of the Facts set forth in Appellant's Opening Brief.

<u>ARGUMENT</u>

I.

DEFENDANT'S SENTENCE IS VALID BECAUSE THERE WAS NO ILLEGAL OR IMPROPER STACKING OF AGGRAVATORS

Defendant alleges that "it was impermissible for the State to charge Mr. Rippo with felony capital murder because the State based the aggravating circumstances in a capital prosecution on two of those felonies upon which the State's felony murder is predicated." (Appellant's Opening Brief, page 19). The Defendant bases this on the December 2004 decision of *McConnell v. State*, 120 Nev. Adv. Op. 105, 102 P.3d 606 (2004). This argument fails for several reasons.

First, this argument is barred by the law of the case doctrine. Where an issue has already been decided on the merits by this Court, the Court's ruling is law of the case, and the issue will not be revisited. *Pellegrini v. State*, 117 Nev. 860, 34 P.3d 519 (2001); *see also, McNelton v. State*, 115 Nev. 396, 990 P.2d 1263, 1276 (1999); *Hall v. State*, 91 Nev. 314, 315-16, 535 P.2d 797, 798-99 (1975); *Valerio v. State*, 112 Nev. 383, 386, 915 P.2d 874, 876 (1996); *Hogan v. Warden*, 109 Nev. 952, 860 P.2d 710

.11

(1993). The law of a first appeal is the law of the case in all later appeals in which the facts are substantially the same; this doctrine cannot be avoided by more detailed and precisely focused argument. *Hall, supra*; *McNelton, supra*; *Hogan, supra*.

In this case, on direct appeal, Defendant argued that the fact that he was not charged with either burglary or kidnapping prevented these crimes from being offered as aggravating circumstances. With regard to that argument, this Court said:

"If a defendant can be prosecuted for each crime separately, each crime can be used as an aggravating circumstance. *Bennett*, 106 Nev. at 142, 787 P.2d at 801. Upon review, we conclude that Rippo could have been prosecuted separately for each of the underlying felonies, and therefore each crime was properly considered as an aggravating circumstance."

Therefore, the issue of whether aggravators were improperly stacked has already been addressed by this Court. As such, it is law of the case and this Court will not revisit the issue.

Further, the issue was not briefed in the Defendant's petition for writ of habeas corpus in the district court below. In fact, it could not have been briefed because the findings of fact, conclusions of law and order from Defendant's petition was filed on December 1, 2004. The *McConnell* decision was not reached until December 29, 2004. Therefore, the retroactivity of the *McConnell* decision is not properly before this court. Because the district court did not look at the issue, this Court should not consider the issue.

Even in the event that this Court decides to look at the retroactivity issue,² applying the *McConnell* decision retroactively is something this Court appears to be unwilling to do. In *McConnell*, this Court stated:

. . . in cases where the State bases a first-degree murder conviction in whole or in part on felony murder, to seek the death sentence the State will have to prove an aggravator other than the one based on the felony

¹ "Before deciding retroactivity, we prefer to await the appropriate post-conviction case that presents and briefs the issue." *McConnell v. State*, 107 P.3d 1287, 1290 (2005). Here, Defendant did not brief the retroactivity issue below, therefore his is not the appropriate post-conviction petition this Court is waiting for.

² The Defendant recognizes this case has in no way been held to be retroactive. He states "<u>If McConnell was</u> to be applied retroactively to the instant case...the State would be left without three aggravating circumstances. (Appellant's Opening Brief, page 20).

5 6

7 8

9 10

11

12 13

14 15

16

17

18 19

20

21

22 23

24

25 26

27

28

murder's predicate felony. We advise the State, therefore, that if it charges alternative theories of first-degree murder intending to seek a death sentence, jurors in the guilt phase should receive a special verdict form that allows them to indicate whether they find first-degree murder based on deliberation and premeditation, felony murder, or both. Without the return of such a form showing that the jury did not rely on felony murder to find first-degree murder, the State cannot use aggravators based on felonies which could support the felony murder.

McConnell, 606 P.3d at 624.

First, this Court's prospective language ("will have to prove" and "we advise the State") strongly indicates this Court's intent for its decision to **not** be applied retroactively. Moreover, in its published opinion denying rehearing, this Court clarified this intent by stating, "[o]ur case law makes it clear that new rules of criminal law or procedure apply to convictions which are **not final**." [Emphasis added] McConnell, 107 P.3d at 1290 (citing Clem v. State, 119 Nev. 615, 627-628, 81 P.3d 521, 530-531 (2003)).

A conviction is final when judgment has been entered, the availability of appeal has been exhausted, and a petition for certiorari to the Supreme Court has been denied or the time for the petition has expired. Colwell v. State, 118 Nev. 807, 59 P.3d 463 (2002).

In the instant case, Judgment of Conviction was entered on May 31, 1996. Defendant exhausted his direct appeal on or about November 3, 1998, and his petition for writ of certiorari was denied on October 5, 1998. Defendant's conviction is, and has for over six years, been final. Thus, the "new rule" set forth in McConnell does not apply to this case.

Even if the decision applied to this case, it still would not afford relief as there is ample evidence of premeditation and deliberation, just as there was in McConnell. In charging McConnell with first-degree murder, the State alleged two theories: deliberate, premeditated murder and felony murder during the perpetration of a burglary. McConnell, 102 P.3d at 620. This Court noted that during his testimony, McConnell admitted that he had premeditated the murder. *Id.* Therefore, his

conviction for first-degree murder was soundly based on a theory of deliberate, premeditated murder. *Id.*

Similarly, in this case, the State alleged the same two theories with the broad language "without authority of law, with malice aforethought, willfully and feloniously kill..." There is ample evidence of premeditated murder. First, Mr. Donald Hill testified that he and the Defendant were in custody together in California in an unrelated matter. He stated that Defendant said he planned for the crime for several days, and he did so because he had been burned in a drug deal by one of the victims. He further testified that the Defendant stated he killed the other victim because she was there and he had to keep her from testifying. (21 ROA 81-82).³

When one of the victims went downstairs to speak to the other victim and both were out of the house, the Defendant pulled the shades in the apartment down. (21 ROA 91). Defendant made a telephone call to a friend, asking the friend to call one of the victims so that she would be distracted. (Id.) The Defendant told his girlfriend to hit one of the victims on the head while she was distracted by the telephone call. (21 ROA 91-92).

Defendant used a serrated kitchen knife to cut cords of various appliances so he could use them to tie the victims up. (21 ROA 92). Defendant placed a sock into one of the victim's mouth, pushing it back so far that the victim's own tongue went down her throat, and tied a bra around her mouth. (17 ROA 66-68). The coroner testified that both victims had died of strangulation, which takes several minutes to occur. (See generally, 17 ROA 66-114, Dr. Green's testimony). Therefore, as in McConnell, there is ample evidence that this conviction of first-degree murder was based on premeditation and deliberation.

Finally, even if the decision applied to this case and there was not ample evidence of premeditation and deliberation, Defendant would still not be afforded

³ Hereinafter, ROA indicates the Record on Appeal, previously on file with the Court. The first number refers to the volume, the last number refers to the page.

4

5

7

Ō

10

1112

13

15

14

16.

17

1.8

1920

21

22

2324

25

26

2728

⁵ See 22 ROA 42-75.

relief. The record reflects that the jury in Defendant's case found six aggravating factors. Even if three of the aggravators were discarded, that leaves three aggravators in tact.

First, Defendant was under a sentence of imprisonment when he committed the murders. During the penalty phase, the State called Howard Saxon, a state parole and probation officer, who verified that Defendant was on parole and under a sentence of imprisonment at the time he committed the murders.⁴ *Rippo*, 113 Nev. at 1258. Therefore, this aggravator would clearly stand.

Second, Defendant was previously convicted of a felony involving the use or threat of violence to another person. Defendant's warrant of execution lists the felony as a 1982 Sexual Assault committed in the State of Nevada. Additionally, during the penalty phase, the jury heard testimony of the violent nature of this crime.⁵ Even in light of *McConnell*, this aggravator would clearly stand.

Finally, the jury found that the murders committed by Defendant involved torture. This Court addressed the issue of torture in Defendant's direct appeal. It stated:

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